IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-948

MCI WORLDCOM NETWORK SERVICES, INC. Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MASTEC, INC. Defendant-Appelle,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

Attorneys for Appellant Steven Wisotsky, #130838 Jennifer Coberly, # 0930466 ZUCKERMAN SPAEDER LLP 201 South Biscayne Blvd., Suite 900 Miami, FL 33131 Telephone (305) 358-5000

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. <u>THE NATURE OF THE CASE</u>

This case comes before the Court on two certified questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in Case No. 03-13022. <u>MCI</u> <u>WORLDCOM Network Services, Inc. v. Mastec, Inc.</u>, 370 F.3d 1074 (11th Cir. 2004).

II. <u>THE COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS</u>

MCI sued Mastec in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida on theories of negligence and trespass. [R1, D1, pp. 3-4].¹ MCI sought actual damages consisting of repair costs and compensation for its loss of the use of the voice and data carrying capacity of the cable, not to exceed the statutory \$500,000 cap in Fla. Stat. § 556.106(2). <u>Id.</u>

The parties filed motions for partial summary judgment on various issues, including MCI's loss of use damages. [R3, D96-99]. MCI sought judgment that the rental value of similar, substitute property was a proper measure of its loss of use damages. [R3, D96]. Mastec sought summary judgment that MCI was not entitled to loss of use damages or, alternatively, that any such damages must be limited to the pre-injury value of the damaged cable. [R3, D99, p. 2]. The parties submitted briefs and supplemental authority. [R3, D96-99, 122; R4, D126, 136, 138-140, 143-44, 161]. The District Court held oral argument [R4, D162; R7, D192] and issued an order

¹ Citations to the appellate record are to volume of the appellate record, "R__," the document within that volume, "D__," and then to the specific page or pages of that document, "p. __."

denying MCI's motion and granting Mastec's motion regarding loss of use damages. [R4, D162, pp. 22-23; R7, D192; R4, D165, pp. 22-23].

During trial on MCI's remaining claims, the parties agreed that judgment be entered against Mastec on liability and repair costs while preserving MCI's right to appeal the loss of use rulings. [R6, D206, p. 1]. MCI appealed the loss of use rulings to United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. [R7, D207, p. 1]. The parties submitted briefs² and presented oral argument to the Eleventh Circuit.

III. DISPOSITION OF THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS

On May 19, 2004, the Eleventh Circuit rendered an opinion certifying the following two questions to this Court:

IS A TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES CARRIER ENTITLED TO DAMAGES FOR THE LOSS OF USE OF A FIBER-OPTIC CABLE DAMAGED BY A DEFENDANT WHEN THE CARRIER INTENDED TO HAVE THE FULL CAPACITY OF THE DAMAGED CABLE AVAILABLE FOR ITS USE SHOULD THE NEED HAVE ARISEN, BUT THE CARRIER WAS ABLE TO ACCOMMODATE WITHIN ITS OWN NETWORK THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS TRAFFIC CARRIED BY THE DAMAGED CABLE AND THE CARRIER PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE THAT IT SUFFERED LOSS OF REVENUE OR OTHER DAMAGES DURING THE TIME THE CABLE WAS UNAVAILABLE?³

² The briefs MCI and Mastec filed with the Eleventh Circuit in this matter are included as Item Nos. 1-3 in the Appendix filed concurrently with this Initial Brief.

³ The Eleventh Circuit states "that the phrasing of this question replicates the terms of the Fourth Circuit's certification to the Virginia Supreme Court in a case involving very similar, if not quite identical, facts." <u>Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1079 n.3. The facts of this case, however, are significantly different. Most notably, in the Virginia case, MCI did not offer evidence that it reserves "particular cables for use exclusively in emergencies, as in the 'spare boat' cases." <u>MCI WORLDCOM Network Services, Inc. v. OSP Consultants, Inc.</u>, 585 S.E.2d 540, 544 (Va. 2003) ("<u>OSP Virginia</u>"). Here, MCI offered evidence, and the Eleventh Circuit has found, that "[t]he spare cable was

IF THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS CARRIER IS ENTITLED TO LOSS OF USE DAMAGES, DOES THE PRE-INJURY VALUE OF THE DAMAGED CABLE ESTABLISH A LIMIT TO THOSE DAMAGES, OR SHOULD THE FAIR MARKET RENTAL VALUE OF AN EQUIVALENT REPLACEMENT CABLE FOR THE TIME REASONABLY NECESSARY TO MAKE REPAIRS SERVE AS THE MEASURE OF LOSS OF USE DAMAGES? Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1078-79.

IV. INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

On July 13, 2000, Mastec severed an MCI underground fiber-optic cable worth over \$8.2 million which ran between MCI's terminals at 8830 NW 18th Terrace ("MIA") and 2153 NW 22nd Street ("86M") in Miami, Florida. [R3, D98, pp. 1-2; R4, D140, pp. 123-24]; see Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1075. As a result, MCI lost the complete use of voice and data transmission carrying capacity of that cable until it was repaired some 97 hours later. [R4, D140, pp. 10, 14]; see Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1075-76.

Mastec does not dispute that MCI lost the use of the severed cable. [Mastec Eleventh Circuit Answer Brief, App., D2, p. 39]; <u>see Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1076. Mastec, however, claims MCI is not entitled to loss of use damages because MCI used dedicated restoration capacity in MCI's own network that was available on a separate and distinct, spare cable route MCI had constructed at a cost of over \$9.65 million to ensure the public did not lose vital telecommunications services if someone like Mastec

installed precisely to ward off the possibility of an interruption in service due to the negligence or recklessness of third parties." <u>Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1076. Consequently, any reliance on <u>OSP Virginia</u>, except insofar as it serves as an exemplar of the phrasing of the first certified question, is misplaced.

severed the primary cable. <u>Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1075-76.⁴ Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit recognized in its opinion certifying the questions to this Court that "[t]he spare cable was installed precisely to ward off the possibility of an interruption in service due to the negligence or recklessness of third parties." <u>Id.</u>, at 1076.

Based on the cost of replacement capacity from Bell South for 97 hours, MCI's loss of use damages totaled approximately \$868,000. <u>Id.</u> at 1075-76. MCI does not seek that full amount because it recognizes its loss of use damages are capped at \$500,000 by Fla. Stat. § 556.106(2). What MCI does seek, and what the trial court denied, is a ruling that: (1) MCI is entitled to loss of use damages; (2) the rental cost of substitute property is <u>a proper measure</u> of such damages; and (3) MCI is entitled to have the trier of fact consider that measure in determining the amount of MCI's loss of use damages, up to the \$500,000 statutory limit.

Denying MCI loss of use damages because it made the substantial capital investment necessary to protect the public by providing a back-up cable route would be unfair to MCI and would, to the detriment of the public, discourage utilities from making such investments. It would also give Mastec and other negligent excavators a low-cost license to damage underground utilities, insulated from the real-world costs of the telecommunications company's protective investment, which is a form of self-insurance. See MCI WORLDCOM Network Services, Inc. v. Kramer Tree Specialists,

⁴ The dedicated restoration capacity in this case was a separate and distinct, alternate route from MIA to 86M consisting of two different cables. One cable ran from MIA to another MCI terminal at 2 Biscayne Boulevard in Miami ("MIB"). The second cable ran from MIB back to 86M. [R4, D140, pp. 123-24; <u>see Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1075-76].

2003 WL 22139791 at 2 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 15, 2003) ("Kramer II") ("MCI should not be penalized for having a separate infrastructure in place to respond to emergency situations.").

V. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

A. MCI Protects The Public With Its Own Dedicated Spare Routes

Mastec was excavating under a Miami street with a horizontal directional drilling rig when it severed MCI's cable. [R3, D98, pp. 1-2]; <u>see Mastec</u>, 370 F.3d at 1075. Horizontal directional drilling is an inherently risky procedure. It poses a risk of potential damage even under ideal conditions where there a minimum number of underground utilities. <u>MCI WORLDCOM Network Services, Inc. v. Von Behren Electric, Inc.</u>, 2002 WL 32166535 at 1 (N.D. Ga. May 21, 2002).

Congress has found that unintentional damage to underground facilities during excavation is a significant cause of disruptions in telecommunications and other vital public services such as hospitals and air traffic control operations. Pub. L. 105-178, Title VII, § 7301, June 9, 1998, 112 Stat. 477, 49 U.S.C.A. § 6101, Historical and Statutory Notes. Excavation damage is, in fact, the single largest cause of interruptions to fiber cable service. [National Transportation Safety Board, <u>Safety Study: Protecting Public Safety Through Excavation Damage Prevention</u>, (Dec. 1997) (the "NTSB Safety Study") at 2; R3, D98, pp. 154-58; R3, D113, pp. 64, 67-68].

MCI installed the cable Mastec severed and the spare route containing the dedicated back-up capacity in 1998. [R3, D98, p. 79]. At that time, network reliability data compiled since 1993 showed that more than half of all facility outages were the

result of excavation damage. [NTSB Safety Study at 3; R3, D98, pp. 154, 157-58; R3, D113, pp. 64, 67-68]. A Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) study of cable cuts in 1993 documented 1,444 equipment outages or communications service disruptions resulting from 590 cable cuts nationwide over a 2-year period. The majority of cable cuts were related to construction and excavation activities. In 1995, cable cuts affected 32 air traffic control facilities, including 5 en route control centers. Cable cuts for the first 8 months of 1997 affected air traffic control operations for a total of 158 hours. [Id.]

A study performed by the Telecommunications Industry Benchmarking Consortium ("TIBC") at the behest of the Federal Communications Commission's Network Reliability Counsel found that it is often less expensive for an excavator simply to dig up telecommunications facilities and pay the price than it is to excavate safely. [TIBC <u>Network Protection Practices for Subsurface Facilities</u> (June 1994) (the "TIBC Study") at 56-57; R3, D112, pp. 54-55]. The study concluded that third-party damage to underground utilities will not be significantly reduced until the fundamental economics are changed and that certain excavators under pressure to earn a profit will continue to dig up facilities if it is the least expensive course of action open to them. [TIBC Study at 60; R3, D112, p. 56].

Here, Mastec failed to employ the safety measures its own procedures mandated when performing the work that resulted in its cutting MCI's cable. [R6, D201, pp. 21-31, 34-35]. The circumstances surrounding Mastec's July 13, 2000, cable cut are substantially similar to 91 other incidents in which Mastec damaged underground

utilities in Florida and Georgia between February 1997 and August 2002. [R6, D201, pp. 35-37].

In addition to the vital public interest in uninterrupted telecommunications services, MCI provides "service guarantees" to many of its customers in which MCI guarantees that there is a back-up route immediately available to carry their traffic if the primary cable becomes inoperable. [R4, D140, pp. 121-22]. Due to the competitive nature of the industry, even customers without "service guarantees" would leave MCI for other carriers if MCI did not have the protect routes to immediately restore their service in the event of a cut. [Id. at p. 122].

When an MCI cable is damaged, MCI cannot immediately obtain substitute capacity from other carriers to prevent a loss of vital service to the public or fulfill its promises to its customers. [Id.]. In addition to Mastec's July 13, 2000, severance of MCI's cable, four different excavators performing directional bores in Miami severed this same cable four separate times between January 4, and March 15, 2000. [R4, D140, pp. 72, 74]. These circumstances evidence MCI's need to have its dedicated restoration capacity on spare cable routes within its own network.

B. <u>The Costs For The Cable Mastec Severed And For The Spare Or</u> <u>Protect Route</u>

The cable Mastec severed runs for 11.78 miles between MCI's MIA and the 86M terminals. It cost MCI \$185,510.48 per mile, or \$2,185,313, to install that cable. [R4, D140, pp. 122-23]. MCI also incurred costs to engineer, install and test the equipment necessary to operate the cable. At today's prices, which are significantly lower than those at the time this cable was installed, the cost is approximately \$11.00

per voice grade circuit. The transport systems active on the cable when Mastec severed it had a capacity of 816 DS-3's or 549,024 voice grade circuits. This makes the cost of the equipment necessary to operate the cable \$6,039,264 or total cost of over \$8.2 million for the cable Mastec severed. [Id. at p. 123]; see Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1078.

The separate protect route consists of two separate cables, one from MIA to MIB and one from MIB to 86M, totaling approximately 19.59 miles. [R4, D140, pp. 74, 123]. It cost MCI \$185,510.48 per mile to construct these spare cables, or a total of \$3,634,150.30, and \$11.00 per voice grade circuit, or another \$6,039,264, for the equipment necessary to make the protect route operational. The cost for the protect route MCI used to reroute traffic from the cable Mastec severed was thus over \$9.65 million. [Id. at p. 123]; see Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1076.

While traffic was switched from the cable Mastec severed to the spare route, MCI's customers were affected. They may have experienced an interruption in their calls, particularly if the calls involved data transmission. [R4, D140, p. 74]. Beyond potential service disruptions, they no longer had the back-up security they had been promised. Their service was at risk of being completely lost if MCI suffered a cut on the protect cable before the main cable was repaired. [R3, D199, pp. 96, 99-102].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. MCI urges the following answers to the two certified questions:

1. A telecommunications carrier is entitled to damages for loss of use of a telecommunications cable even if it reroutes traffic to other cables it already owns rather

than renting a substitute from another carrier and offers no evidence of lost revenue or out-of-pocket costs. The carrier is entitled to have the trier of fact consider the cost of renting a suitable substitute in determining the amount of those damages.

2. Loss of use damages are not limited to the cable's pre-injury value. The rental cost of replacement property to perform the services normally performed by the damaged cable for the time reasonably necessary to repair it is a proper measure of those damages, subject to the \$500,000 cap in the Damage Prevention Act.

II. The bases for reaching these answers are as follows:

1. Under well established principles of law, MCI is entitled damages for loss of use of the cable Mastec severed. This is compelled by §§ 928 and 931 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which have been adopted by the Florida District Courts of Appeal as the measure of damages for injuries to chattel and the Florida Underground Facility Damage Prevention and Safety Act, Fla. Stat. §§ 556.101, <u>et seq.</u> (the "Damage Prevention Act").

2. MCI is entitled to loss of use damages regardless of whether it was able to use other separate cables that it had installed "precisely to ward off the possibility of an interruption in service." Mastec, 370 F.3d at 1076. Those back-up cables were available only because MCI had the prudence to invest nearly \$10 million to insure the public's interest in uninterrupted telecommunications service. MCI's maintenance of back-up cables is a costly form of self-insurance. Denying loss of use damages because MCI did not rent a substitute cable or capacity from another carrier or offer evidence of lost revenue will, to the public's detriment, discourage utility owners like

MCI from paying the millions of dollars necessary for this type of self-insurance because they will be unable to recover compensation through appropriate damage awards. On the contrary, such a rule of law will only encourage negligent excavators like Mastec to ignore safe excavation practices by limiting their liability to the costs of repairing the cable.

3. The cable Mastec severed is a distinct item of property that serves a vital function in transmitting telephone traffic separate and apart from the back-up cable. The cable Mastec severed, not MCI's entire Miami network, is the property to consider in determining whether MCI is entitled to loss of use damages. As both the District Court and the Eleventh Circuit found, MCI lost the complete use of the cable Mastec severed.

4. Florida law allows loss of use damages to exceed the pre-injury value of the damaged property. While the precise amount of MCI's loss of use damages is a question for the trier of fact, the cost of renting substitute property is a proper measure of such damages that MCI should be allowed to submit to the trier of fact.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

I. <u>A TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY IS ENTITLED TO LOSS OF</u> <u>USE DAMAGES WHEN A NEGLIGENT EXCAVATOR CUTS ITS CABLE</u> Ownership of an item of property carries with it the right to use that property.⁵

When a defendant tortiously injures an item of property, there has been a loss of one of the valuable rights or interests in that property – the right to use that property.⁶ Loss of use damages are awarded to provide reasonable compensation not only for pecuniary loss, but also for lost opportunity costs. <u>Kuwait Airways Corp. v. Ogden Allied Aviation Services</u>, 726 F. Supp. 1389, 1396 (E.D.N.Y. 1989); <u>Fukida</u>, 33 P.3d at 210-11; <u>Cress v. Scott</u>, 868 P.2d 648, 651 (N.M. 1994).

The fact that the owner of a thing does not actually use nor enjoy it does not affect its value. Its value lies in the value of the assemblage of rights to use, enjoy, dispose of it, which constitutes its property. . . .[T]o employ the illustration used by the House of Lords, if a person takes away my chair, he cannot diminish the damages by showing that I did not usually sit in that chair, or that there were plenty of other chairs in the room.

1 Theodore Sedgwick, <u>A Treatise on the Measure of Damages</u> § 243a (9th ed. 1912);

see Meakin v. Dreier, 209 So.2d 252, 254 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968).

⁵ E.g., <u>American Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Connecticut Light & Power Co.</u>, 470 F. Supp. 105, 107 n.2 (D. Conn. 1979); <u>Fukida v. Hon/Hawaii Service and Repair</u>, 33 P.3d 543, 545 (Haw. Ct. App. 2001), <u>aff'd in part & rev'd in part</u>, 33 P.3d 204 (Haw. 2001); 22 Am. Jur. 2d <u>Damages</u>, § 294 (2003); <u>see Meakin v. Dreier</u>, 209 So.2d 252, 254 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968) (ownership of property vests certain rights or uses in the owner).

⁶ <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Connecticut Light</u>, 470 F. Supp. at 107 n.2; <u>see Koninklijke Luchtvaart</u> <u>Maatschaapij, N.V. (K.L.M. Royal Dutch Airlines) v. United Technologies Corp.</u>, 610 F.2d 1052, 1056 (2d Cir. 1979) ("<u>KLM</u>"); <u>Meakin</u>, 209 So.2d at 254 (value of property to its owner lies in the right to use that property and one who injures him in that right renders himself liable for consequent damage).

Courts from both Florida and other jurisdictions have found that loss of use is a proper element of damages for injury to a telecommunications cable.⁷ Many such courts which have addressed the issue have also held that the rental cost of a replacement cable or transmission capacity is the proper measure of the telecommunication company's loss of use damages. This is so even though the company rerouted the calls to other cables in its own network rather than actually renting substitute capacity from another carrier and did not offer any evidence of lost profits or revenues. <u>E.g., Kramer I,</u> 2003 WL 22139794 at 2; <u>OSP Oklahoma</u>, 2002 WL 32166536 at 3; <u>Von Behren</u>, 2002 WL 32166535 at 2, 7; <u>Lanzo</u>, 74 F. Supp. 2d at 1224-25.

In Lanzo, AT&T sought \$20,569.02 repair costs and \$548,640 loss of use damages. As MCI has done here, AT&T based the cost of a replacement cable on the cost of obtaining sufficient capacity from another carrier, measured by DS-3's, to replace the cable that was damaged. [R4, D140, pp. 80, 82, 88]. The defendant argued that AT&T did not suffer any loss of use because it was able to reroute all the calls to

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