## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-948

MCI WORLDCOM NETWORK SERVICES, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MASTEC, INC.,

Defendant-Appellee

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE MASTEC, INC.

Attorneys for Appellee

Alan J. Kluger, Esq.
Steve I. Silverman, Esq.
Kluger, Peretz, Kaplan & Berlin, P.L.
The Miami Center - 17<sup>th</sup> Floor
201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 377-9000

#

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

## C. AT&T v. Lanzo Was Wrongly Decided.

MCI relies heavily on an order from the Southern District of Florida denying defendant's motion for partial summary judgment. AT&T Corp. v. Lanzo, 74 F. Supp. 2d 1223 (S.D. Fla. 1999). Although Lanzo is arguably factually similar to this case, MasTec submits that Lanzo was wrongly decided. Indeed, other judges in the Southern District have explicitly disagreed with and refused to adopt Lanzo in several identical cases. In Lanzo, the defendant damaged an AT&T fiber optic cable during the construction of a sewer. AT&T sued, seeking, in part, damages for loss of use of its cable. Lanzo held that AT&T was entitled to recover such damages measured by the reasonable rental value of a substitute cable.

See MCI Worldcom Network Services, Inc. v. Krantz, Case No. 00-04249-CIV-Jordan, Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment (R-4-139-9); MCI Worldcom Network Services, Inc. v. Morris Plumbing and Electric Co., Inc., Case No. 00-04250-CIV-Garber, Order [on the parties' respective Motions for Summary Judgment and MCI's Motion for Reconsideration] (R4-126-1, Exhibit 2); MCI Worldcom Network Services, Inc. v. Lind, Case No. 00-04407-CIV-Jordan, Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment (R4-143-10).

Lanzo relied heavily on Meakin in reaching its conclusion. 17

Meakin awarded loss of use damages because plaintiff was deprived of the use of her vehicle for fourteen days, and she was compensated for that unique inconvenience and hardship. Here, because there was a redundancy built into MCI's system, there was no functional deprivation of use and no comparable hardship.

Lanzo also relied on Finkel v. Challenger Marine Corp., 316 F. Supp. 549 (S.D. Fla. 1970). Finkel allowed recovery for the loss of use of a pleasure yacht. In Finkel, the plaintiff sought damages for loss of use of his yacht while it underwent repairs caused by plaintiff's negligence. Id. at 555. Subsequent to the opinion in Lanzo, however, the Eleventh Circuit expressly overruled Finkel because of direct conflict with The Conqueror. The Eleventh Circuit found that the holding in The Conqueror remains valid and binding, and that "[a]ppellant thus is entitled to receive loss of use damages

<sup>17</sup> As previously discussed, <u>Meakin</u> involved loss of use of a personal vehicle while being repaired. Plaintiff could not afford to rent a substitute vehicle so she had no actual out-of-pocket loss other than the cost of repair. The court nonetheless allowed plaintiff to recover rental value as damages, primarily to advance the social policy of not discriminating against the poor. <u>Id</u>. at 254 ("to accept any other point of view would condition recovery upon the financial ability to hire another automobile"). In a commercial setting, concerns for an indigent plaintiff are normally absent.

only if able to prove, with reasonable certainty, that profits had actually been, or may reasonably be supposed to have been, lost." Central State Transit, 206 F.3d at 1376 and at n. 3. The vessel owner in Central State continued to receive fees from the corporations which used the yacht while it was under repair. "Because [Central State] did not prove, with reasonable certainty, that profits had actually been or may reasonably supposed to have been lost," it was denied loss of use damages. Id. at 1376-77. The vessel owner in Central State, like MCI, used its property to derive revenue and, like MCI, lost no revenue as a result of damage to that property.

Thus, in the Eleventh Circuit, the owner of commercial property who loses no revenue while the property is under repair suffers no compensable damages for loss of use. See also Brooklyn Eastern Dist. Terminal, 287 U.S. 170; Bolivar County Gravel, 585 F.2d 1306 (company could not collect damages for loss of use of dredge when company had no pecuniary loss, filled all orders for clients and was in same position it would have been without accident). These cases, although arising in the maritime context, are persuasive. They highlight the most basic premise underlying an award of damages: that a plaintiff should be made whole for its actual, not theoretical, losses. Lanzo did not address this issue.

Finally, Lanzo misconstrues the relation between rental value and loss of use under Florida law. It cites Mortellaro & Co., 107 So. 528, and Maserati Automobiles, 522 So. 2d 993, as if they were similar to the case under review. These cases, again involving damage to vehicles, simply hold that rental value may be the measure of loss of use damages in a proper case. In Maserati Automobiles, the court cited Meakin for the proposition that the measure of damage is loss of use, not rental value. "Rental value is merely indicative of loss of use." Maserati Automobiles, at 995. Here, awarding MCI the hypothetical rental value of a substitute cable is clearly not indicative of loss of use. Lanzo infers that Florida law mandates an award for loss of use measured by rental cost whenever there is a deprivation of property. That is not the law in Florida, nor in the Eleventh Circuit. Accordingly, this Court should apply well-established Florida law and the holding in Central State, and find that loss of use damages are inappropriate in this case.

#### II. RENTAL VALUE IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE MEASURE OF DAMAGES HERE.

# A. Florida Does not Require Loss of Use Damages to be Calculated Using Rental Value.

Although the district court correctly held that "Florida law does not mandate a strict adherence to the practice of using

rental value to determine loss of use damages," (R4-165-12), MCI continues to seek the replacement rental value of the cable simply because it alleges entitlement to loss of use damages.

The Florida cases MCI cites do not mandate that the measure of loss of use damages is the cost of renting a substitute chattel. To the contrary, rental value is not the equivalent of loss of use damages and is merely indicative of loss of use value. Meakin, 209 So. 2d at 254 ("rent and loss of use are not interchangeable terms."); e.g., Tolin v. Doudov, 626 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993)(approving jury instruction describing alternate methods for calculating loss of use damages). Florida courts in automobile cases uniformly admonish that rental value and loss of use are not equivalent. This suggests that in other types of cases - commercial cases, for example, where the damaged property generates revenue - the measure of damages is different and requires actual loss.

Neither <u>Badillo</u> nor <u>Maryland Cas. Co. v. Florida</u>

<u>Produce Distributors, Inc.</u>, 498 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1983) dictate that rental value be awarded in awarding damages for loss of use. <u>Badillo</u> says that rental value may be "considered" in making such an award and <u>Maryland Casualty</u> merely states that rental value is "evidence" of the measure of damages. <u>Northamerican Van Lines, Inc. v. Roper</u>, 429 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> Dist. 1983) merely states that loss of use damages are generally measured by rental value, not that calculation of damages using rental value is mandatory in making such an award.

Additionally, in allowing rental value not actually incurred for loss of use of an automobile, Florida courts are clearly motivated by the social policy of not discriminating against the poor who could not afford to actually rent a substitute. See, e.g., Meakin; Badillo, 570 So. 2d 1067 ("this makes the law uniform . . . for persons who can afford to rent a substitute car and those who cannot."). That policy consideration plainly has no application to a multi-million dollar corporation such as MCI.

Even cases MCI cites to support its position that "loss of use damages are an appropriate item of recovery of damage to a telecommunications cable" MCI Brief, 12 (and cases cited at n. 7), recognize that rental value is not the only measure of loss of use damages. "The market rental value, however, is not conclusive as to the value of the use, for the rental value may include an allowance for depreciation as well as for the overhead expenses and profits of carrying on the business of renting telephone cables." American Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Connecticut Light & Power Co., 470 F. Supp. at 109 (internal citations omitted)(awarding \$1 nominal loss of use damages); see also American Tel. & Tel. Corp. v. Thompson, 227 N.W.2d 7, 9 (Neb. 1975)("rental value is not necessarily the 'measure' of damages, rather, proof of what the item whose use has been lost

would have rented for is admitted as evidence of value"). Such "evidence" is simply not relevant in a commercial case where the property has no intrinsic value and there has been no lost profit.

Judges in the Southern District of Florida, applying Florida law, have addressed this issue in identical lawsuits brought by MCI against contractors for similar damage to an MCI fiber optic cable. See, e.g., MCI WorldCom Network Services, Inc. v. Morris Plumbing and Elec. Co., Inc., S.D. Fla. Case No. 00-4250-CIV-Garber. (R4-126-1, Exhibit 2). In Morris, as here, MCI's system contained sufficient capacity to carry telecommunication traffic without interruption despite a damaged cable. Morris concluded that even if MCI was entitled to loss of use damages, it would not be entitled to replacement rental value. Awarding replacement rental value would be "grossly unfair," and the court commented that MCI probably would not be entitled to loss of use damages at trial, or at most, only nominal loss of use damages. Id. 19

Excavation Corp., 224 F. Supp. 2d 875, 881 (D.N.J. 2002)("it would be grossly unfair to require Glendale to pay to MCI almost \$2,000,000 in actual damages should it be determined that MCI's actual losses were not very high due to MCI's ability to reroute its lost calls to other parts of its network.)

In another identical case, MCI Worldcom Network Services,

Inc. v. Lind, S.D. Fla. Case No. 00-4407-Civ-Jordan (R4-143-10),

the court also found that an award of rental value to MCI would

be inappropriate, and explicitly rejected the holding and

analysis in Lanzo. "Rental value does not define loss of use,

but is only one method" to determine loss of use damages. Lind,

5. Lind explained that although awarding rental cost not

actually incurred is appropriate under Florida law to vindicate

the public policy of not discriminating against the poor, this

rationale "does not support a conclusion that rental value is

indicative of loss of use damages in the present case." Lind,

6.

### B. MCI's Reliance On The Restatement is Misplaced.

MCI also claims that Florida adopted §§ 928 and 931 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts "as the rule of damage applicable to injuries to chattels." Florida cases discussing the Restatement show that its "adoption" is not as broad as MCI suggests. Meakin, an automobile case, is the only Florida case cited by MCI which quotes the comment to clause (a) of § 931, to the effect that an owner may recover rental value of damaged chattel even though there has been no deprivation. Meakin, 209 So. 2d at 254. Badillo v. Hill, supra, cites Meakin for this proposition. 570 So. 2d at 1068. But, as previously indicated,

Meakin also explained that "[t]he measure of damage is 'loss of use' not rental value." 209 So. 2d at 254 (emphasis added). The policy reason for permitting rental cost as loss of use damages in Meakin was to avoid discriminating against a poor vehicle owner who could not afford to rent a substitute. Id.; citing Holmes v. Raffo, 374 P.2d 536 (Wash. 1962). For reasons previously explained, there is no reason to believe that the Meakin court would have concluded that the same social policy should apply to MCI's inconsequential deprivation of the use of its redundant cable which caused neither loss of service, loss of revenue nor inconvenience.

The other Florida appellate decisions cited by MCI for the proposition that §§ 928 and 931 of the Restatement are dispositive of this issue are of no assistance to MCI. Alonso v. Fernandez, 379 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) and Airtech Service, Inc. v. MacDonald Construction Co., 150 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963) involve damages to chattels not totally destroyed and adopt § 928 (a) as the correct calculation. Neither case discusses § 928 (b), "loss of use," except that Alonso notes that the plaintiff rented a substitute lunch truck and was entitled to the rental cost actually incurred as loss of use damages.

MCI also cites two additional federal cases from Florida. The first is <u>Lanzo</u> discussed at length, <u>supra</u>. The second is <u>In</u> <u>re Florida Airlines</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 64 B.R. 199 (M.D. Fla. 1986), where the court merely noted that Florida had adopted the Restatement as the rule for calculating compensation for damaged chattel. Loss of use was not an issue and <u>Florida Airlines</u> does not, therefore, support MCI's position.

Neither Section 928 nor 931 address any context comparable to that presented here: a telecommunications network with built-in redundancy whose damaged cable caused no loss of service, loss of revenue or inconvenience. Moreover, the Comment in Clause (a) to § 931 qualifies the application of the rental value rule: "The use to which the chattel or land is commonly put . . . [is] to be taken into consideration as far as these factors bear upon the value of the use to the owner or the rental value." Severance of MCI's cable deprived it of no "value" in the absence of lost revenue.

Meakin states the law will not condone depriving a poor vehicle owner of a remedy for the inconvenience of not being able to afford to rent a substitute. So too the law will not condone a windfall to a major corporation which has not been

inconvenienced by damage to its property. 20 MCI's interpretation of Section 931 is illogical and ill-suited to the commercial context.

Moreover, loss of use damages are inextricably intertwined with the concept of mitigation of damages. "If a person has been deprived of a chattel . . . being used in a business that would suffer from the deprivation, the rule of avoidable consequences requires that he should make reasonable efforts to procure a substitute to prevent the harm." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 931, Comment C. Here, MCI had no need to rent a substitute to avoid the harm of lost service to customers. Thus, it suffered neither loss of revenue nor the cost to rent a substitute. Awarding MCI loss of use damages defies logic and common sense.

### C. The Underground Prevention and Safety Act.

The Underground Facility Damage Prevention and Safety Act, Chapter 556, Florida Statutes (the "Act"), was not intended to be a source of windfalls, despite MCI's, Sprint Corp.'s,

Section 931 is more equivocal than MCI suggests. Comment C explains that one may not recover the reasonable rental value of a substitute greater than the value of what it was substituted for where "the value [of the substitute] is greater than the harm that would have been suffered without a substitute." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 931, Comment C (emphasis added). The comment is consistent with Florida law expressed in <a href="Badillo">Badillo</a>, that loss of use damages cannot exceed the value of the chattel.

Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P.'s and Broadwing Communications, LLC's arguments to the contrary. 21 Fla. Stat. § 556.106 (2000) states:

Such person [who damages an underground facility]. . . shall be liable for the total sum of the losses to all member operators involved as those costs are normally computed. Any damage for loss of revenue and loss of use shall not exceed \$500,000 per affected underground facility . . .

MCI incorrectly argues that because the Act separates loss of use and loss of revenue from each other, and from repair costs, Badillo (which, as discussed, supra, holds that a plaintiff cannot recover a sum greater than the chattel's pre-injury value) is overruled (MCI Brief, 37), and that MCI is entitled to loss of use damages up to the statutory cap of \$500,000 even though it suffered no actual loss of use damages. (MCI Brief, 23-24).

The Act does not statutorily overturn <u>Badillo</u>, as MCI urges. The district court never held, nor does MasTec argue, that loss of use damages in addition to repair damages, under the Act, cannot ever exceed the pre-injury value of the cable. Rather, MasTec's only contention on appeal, as the district court correctly held, is that loss of use damages alone cannot exceed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Sprint Corp., Southwestern Bell Telephone, and Broadwing Communications have filed an Amicus Curiae Brief in Support of MCI.

the pre-injury value of the chattel.<sup>22</sup> Thus, the district court's ruling and MasTec's position do not conflict with the Act.

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